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B. INTENTIONAL PROGRAM VIOLATIONS, ADMINISTRATIVE 

DISQUALIFICATION HEARINGS, AND RELATED WELFARE/SNAP FRAUD 

ISSUES
*
 

AGENDA 

September 12, 2014 

9:00 a.m. – 10:30 a.m. 

 

1.5 Transitional CLE Credits in Professional Practice. 

Under New York’s MCLE rule, this program has been approved for all attorneys, 

including newly admitted. 

 

Panelists: 

Ian F. Feldman, Esq., Director of Legal Services, Mental Health Project, Urban Justice Center 

Maryanne Joyce, Esq. 

Diana C. Proske, Esq., Staff Attorney, Neighborhood Legal Services, Inc. 

Cathy Roberts, Senior Paralegal, Empire Justice Center 

 

 

I. Applicable Law, Regulations, and Policy 9:00 am – 9:10 am 

II. Fraud/Intentional Program Violation Definitions and Penalties 9:10 am – 9:20 am 

III. Initial Investigation by Local Social Services District 9:20 am – 9:30 am 

IV. Referral to Prosecutor/District Attorney 9:30 am – 9:40 am 

V. Administrative Disqualification Hearing 9:40 am – 9:55 am 

VI. Post Hearing Proceedings 9:55 am – 10:05 am 

VII. Recent Developments in Law and Policy 10:05 am – 10:15 am 

VIII. When Your Client Is The Victim of Benefits Fraud 10:15 am – 10:20 am 

IX. Question & Answer 10:20 am – 10:30 am 

  

                                                        
* These materials supplement, revise, and update materials presented at the 2009 Legal Services NYC training and the 
2008 NYSBA Partnership Conference training by Susan Bahn, Maryanne Joyce, Carolyn McQuade and Lisa Pearlstein, 
which were based on the 2007 “Intentional Program Violations” outline by MacGregor Smyth. 
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B. INTENTIONAL PROGRAM VIOLATIONS, ADMINISTRATIVE 

DISQUALIFICATION HEARINGS, AND RELATED WELFARE/SNAP FRAUD 

ISSUES 

OUTLINE 

Abbreviations:  

“IPV” - Intentional Program Violation 

“ADH” - Administrative Disqualification Hearing 

“OTDA” - New York State Office of Temporary and Disability Assistance 

“OAH” - OTDA’s Office of Administrative Hearings  

“HRA” - New York City Human Resources Administration  

 

I.APPLICABLE LAW, REGULATIONS, AND POLICY 

A. Federal Statutes and Regulations for SNAP Fraud, Trafficking, and IPVs 

1. 7 U.S.C. § 2015. Eligibility Disqualifications. 

2. 7 U.S.C. § 2024. Violations and enforcement. 

3. 7 C.F.R. § 271.2. Definitions [trafficking]. (Recently amended, see 78 Fed. Reg. 

51649 (Aug. 21, 2013).
1
 

4. 7 C.F.R. § 273.16. Disqualification for Intentional Program Violations. 

5. 7 C.F.R. § 274.6. Replacement issuances and cards to households. (Recently 

amended, see 78 Fed. Reg. 65515 (Nov. 1, 2013); 79 Fed. Reg. 22766 (Apr. 24, 

2014).
2
  

B. New York Social Services Law 

1. § 106-b. Adjustment for incorrect payments. 

2. § 132. Investigation of applications. 

3. § 134. Supervision [and reinvestigation of recipients]. 

4. § 134-a. Conduct of investigation. 

5. § 134-b. Front end detection system. 

6. § 136-a. Information from state tax commission and the comptroller. 

7. § 144-a. Information to be given to officials of the department and of social 

services districts [by financial institutions and others]. 

8. § 145. Penalties [for false statement/concealment/misrepresentation/fraud and 

referral to prosecutor]. 

9. § 145-c. Sanctions [periods of ineligibility]. 

10. § 146. Penalties for sale or exchange of assistance supplies. 

11. § 147. Misuse of food stamps, food stamp program coupons, authorization cards, 

and electronic access devices. 

C. New York Penal Law 

1. § 158. Definitions; presumption; limitation [Welfare Fraud]. 

2. §§ 158.05 to 158.25. Welfare fraud. 

                                                 
1
 Also available at https://federalregister.gov/a/2013-20245  

2
 Also available at https://federalregister.gov/a/2014-09334  
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3. §§ 158.30 to 158.35. Criminal use of a public benefit card. 

D. New York State Regulations 

1. 18 NYCRR § 348 et seq. Requirements Applicable to Fraud Cases. 

2. 18 NYCRR Part 351. Investigation and Eligibility. 

3. 18 NYCRR Part 359. Disqualification for Intentional Program Violation.
3
 

4. 18 NYCRR Part 358 (applies where not inconsistent with Part 359). 

E. Policy Documents 

1. Federal Policies 

a. Arthur T. Foley & Lou Pastura, Food and Nutrition Service, Food Stamp 

Program Cooperation with Fraud Investigations (Apr. 24, 2003) 

b. Barbara Hallman, Food and Nutrition Service, Fraud Policy: 7 C.F.R. § 

273.16 

2. New York State Policies,
4,5

 

a. OTDA Informational Letter 14-INF-03- Investigative Unit Operations 

Plan 

b. OTDA Informational Letter 13 TA/DC030- Excessive Replacement Card 

Letter to Clients 

c. OTDA Local Commissioners Memorandum 3-LCM-13- Social Media 

Access by Local District Child Support and Fraud Investigators 

d. OTDA GIS 11 TA/DC012- False or Misleading Marital Status 

Information Admission Statement Form and Food Stamp Program 

Intentional Program Violations 

e. OTDA GIS 10 TA/DC004- False or Misleading Marital Status and Food 

Stamp Program Intentional Program Violations (Robles v. Doar-related) 

f. OTDA Informational Letter 09-INF-12- Program Integrity Questions and 

Answers 

g. OTDA GIS 09 TA/DC036- Randomization of CBIC Numbering 

h. OTDA Informational Letter 08-INF-06- Online availability of the LDSS-

4903: ‘‘Disqualification Consent Agreement’’ and LDSS-4904: ‘‘Notice 

of Consequences to a Disqualification Consent Agreement’’ 

i. OTDA Administrative Directive 06-ADM-14- Electronic Benefit Transfer 

(EBT) Customer Service Automated Response Unit (ARU) Personal 

Identification Number (PIN) Selection Restriction 

j. OTDA Informational Letter 06-INF-26 -Investigative Unit Operations 

Plan 

                                                 
3
 Note: Under 18 NYCRR § 399.11, Part 359 supersedes Part 399 (Food Stamp Fraud and Food Stamp Intentional Program 

Violations-Disqualification) 

 
4
 OTDA Policy documents and Source Books are found at http://otda.ny.gov/legal / 

5
 OTDA Guidance Documents are listed annually in the NYS Register. 2014 list available at: 

http://docs.dos.ny.gov/info/register/2014/jan15/pdf/guidance.pdf 
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k. OTDA Informational Letter 06-INF-16- Program Integrity Questions and 

Answers 

l. OTDA Administrative Directive 05-ADM-08- Front End Detection 

Systems (FEDS) Policy 

m. OTDA Informational Letter 05-INF-18- Food Stamp Program Questions 

and Answers: Expedited FS Application Processing, IPVs, NYSNIP, 

TOP/CAMS 

n. OTDA Local Commissioners Memorandum 04-LCM-06- Front End 

Detection System (FEDS)  

o. OTDA Informational Letter 94-INF-11- Intentional Program Violation 

(IPV) – Regional Meetings Questions and Answers 

p. OTDA Administrative Directive 93-ADM-08- Disqualifications for 

Intentional Program Violations 

q. OTDA 90IM/DC036 GIS- Notification of Fraud Interviews 

r. OTDA Temporary Assistance Source Book (“TASB”), Ch. 6, Sec. D at 6-

9 to 6-20- Disqualification for Intentional Program Violation 

s. OTDA Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP) Source Book 

(“SNAPSB”), Sec. 6 at 154-171, Disqualification for Intentional Program 

Violation 

3. Local Social Services District Policies
6,7

 

a. Erie County DSS Investigative Unit Operations Plan 

b. Chemung County DSS Investigative Unit Operations Plan 

c. HRA Policy Directive #13-26-ELI- Intentional Program Violations 

d. HRA Policy Directive #13-25-OPE- Requests for Replacement of Stolen 

Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program Benefits and/or Cash 

Assistance 

e. HRA Policy Directive #12-28-ELI- Processing the Statewide Clearance 

Match in POS 

f. HRA Policy Directive #12-12-OPE- Fraud Referrals to BFI 

g. HRA Policy Directive #10-30-OPE- Clarification Regarding Computer 

Matches 

h. HRA Policy Directive #09-43-SYS- Resource File Integration (RFI) 

i. HRA Policy Bulletin #08-64-SYS- Bureau of Fraud Investigation (BFI) 

Alerts 

II.FRAUD/INTENTIONAL PROGRAM VIOLATION DEFINITIONS AND PENALTIES 

A. Definitions 

1. Federal Law and Regulations on SNAP Benefits Fraud 

a. 7 U.S.C. § 2015(b) addresses fraud and misrepresentation; disqualification 

                                                 
6
 Local District Investigative Unit Operations Plans must be filed with OTDA. See Informational Letter 14-INF-03; 93-AD- 

8; TASB at 6-10; SNAPSB at 156. 
7
 HRA Policy documents can be found at http://onlineresources.wnylc.net  
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penalties; ineligibility periods; and applicable procedures.  

1. Under 7 U.S.C. § 2015(b)(1),  

Any person who has been found by any State or Federal court or 

administrative agency to have intentionally (A) made a false or 

misleading statement, or misrepresented, concealed or withheld 

facts, or (B) committed any act that constitutes a violation of this 

chapter, the regulations issued thereunder, or any State statute, for 

the purpose of using, presenting, transferring, acquiring, receiving, 

or possessing program benefits shall, immediately upon the 

rendering of such determination, become ineligible for further 

participation in the program. 

b. 7 U.S.C. § 2015(p) addresses disqualification for obtaining cash by 

destroying food and collecting deposits. 

1. [A]ny person who has been found by a State or Federal court or 

administrative agency in a hearing under subsection (b) to have 

intentionally obtained cash by purchasing products with 

supplemental nutrition assistance program benefits that have 

containers that require return deposits, discarding the product, and 

returning the container for the deposit amount shall be ineligible 

for benefits under this chapter for such period of time as the 

Secretary shall prescribe by regulation.  

c. 7 U.S.C. § 2015(q) addresses disqualification for the sale of food 

purchased with supplemental nutrition assistance program benefits 

1. [A]ny person who has been found by a State or Federal court or 

administrative agency in a hearing under subsection (b) to have 

intentionally sold any food that was purchased using supplemental 

nutrition assistance program benefits shall be ineligible for benefits 

under this chapter for such period of time as the Secretary shall 

prescribe by regulation. 

d. Under 7 C.F.R. § 273.16(c), an IPV shall consist of having intentionally: 

1. made a false or misleading statement, or misrepresented, concealed 

or withheld facts; or  

2. committed any act that constitutes a violation of the Food Stamp 

Act, the Food Stamp Program Regulations, or any State statute for 

the purpose of using, presenting, transferring, acquiring, receiving, 

possessing or trafficking of coupons, authorization cards or 

reusable documents used as part of an automated benefit delivery 

system (access device). 

e. Under the recently revised trafficking definition in 7 C.F.R. § 271.2, 

trafficking means: 

1. The buying, selling, stealing, or otherwise effecting an exchange of 
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SNAP benefits issued and accessed via Electronic Benefit Transfer 

(EBT) cards, card numbers and personal identification numbers 

(PINs), or by manual voucher and signature, for cash or 

consideration other than eligible food, either directly, indirectly, in 

complicity or collusion with others, or acting alone;  

2. The exchange of firearms, ammunition, explosives, or controlled 

substances, as defined in section 802 of title 21, United States 

Code, for SNAP benefits; 

3. Purchasing a product with SNAP benefits that has a container 

requiring a return deposit with the intent of obtaining cash by 

discarding the product and returning the container for the deposit 

amount, intentionally discarding the product, and intentionally 

returning the container for the deposit amount;  

4. Purchasing a product with SNAP benefits with the intent of 

obtaining cash or consideration other than eligible food by 

reselling the product, and subsequently intentionally reselling the 

product purchased with SNAP benefits in exchange for cash or 

consideration other than eligible food; or  

5. Intentionally purchasing products originally purchased with SNAP 

benefits in exchange for cash or consideration other than eligible 

food[;] 

6. Attempting to buy, sell, steal, or otherwise affect an exchange of 

SNAP benefits issued and accessed via Electronic Benefit Transfer 

(EBT) cards, card numbers and personal identification numbers 

(PINs), or by manual voucher and signatures, for cash or 

consideration other than eligible food, either directly, indirectly, in 

complicity or collusion with others, or acting alone. 

2. New York Law Definitions—TA/SNAP Fraud 

a. N.Y. Penal Law § 158.00(b) defines “fraudulent welfare act” as: 

knowingly and with intent to defraud, engaging in an act or acts pursuant 

to which a person: 

1. offers, presents or causes to be presented to the state, any of its 

political subdivisions or social services districts, or any employee 

or agent thereof, an oral or written application or request for public 

assistance benefits or for a public benefit card with knowledge that 

the application or request contains a false statement or false 

information, and such statement or information is material, or 

2. holds himself or herself out to be another person, whether real or 

fictitious, for the purpose of obtaining public assistance benefits, or  

3. makes a false statement or provides false information for the 

purpose of (i) establishing or maintaining eligibility for public 
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assistance benefits or (ii) increasing or preventing reduction of 

public assistance benefits, and such statement or information is 

material. 

b. Welfare fraud in the fifth degree is a Class A misdemeanor. Welfare fraud 

in the fourth degree, where the value of benefits obtained exceeds $1000, 

is a class E felony. Welfare fraud in the third degree, where the value of 

the benefits obtained exceeds $3000, is a class D felony. Welfare fraud in 

the second degree, where the value of the benefits obtained exceeds 

$50,000, is a class C felony. §§ 158.05 to 158.20. 

c. Under N.Y. Soc. Serv. Law § 145(1),  

1. Any person who by means of a false statement or representation, or 

by deliberate concealment of any material fact, or by 

impersonation or other fraudulent device, obtains or attempts to 

obtain, or aids or abets any person to obtain public assistance or 

care to which he is not entitled, or does any wilful act designed to 

interfere with the proper administration of public assistance and 

care, shall be guilty of a misdemeanor, unless such act constitutes a 

violation of a provision of the penal law of the state of New York, 

in which case he shall be punished in accordance with the penalties 

fixed by such law. Failure on the part of a person receiving public 

assistance or care to notify the social services official granting such 

assistance or care of the receipt of money or property or income 

from employment or any other source whatsoever, shall, upon the 

cashing of a public assistance check by or on behalf of such person 

after the receipt of such money, or property, or income, constitute 

presumptive evidence of deliberate concealment of a material fact. 

d. Under 18 NYCRR § 348.1,  

1. For the purposes of section 145 of the Social Services Law and the 

regulations herein, fraud shall be deemed to exist when a person 

knowingly obtains, or attempts to obtain, or aids or abets another 

person to obtain, public assistance or care to which he is not 

entitled by means of a false statement, deliberate concealment of a 

material fact or other dishonest act. 

e. Social Services Law § 147 specifically addresses misuse of SNAP benefits 

and electronic access devices: 

1. Whoever knowingly uses, transfers, acquires, alters, purchases, 

transports or possesses [SNAP benefits] ... or electronic access 

devices which entitle a person to obtain [SNAP benefits], in any 

manner not authorized by section ninety-five of this chapter shall 

be guilty of a class A misdemeanor except that if the value of the 

benefit he or she obtained: (i) exceeds one thousand dollars, he or 
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she shall be guilty of a class E felony; or (ii) exceeds three 

thousand dollars, he or she shall be guilty of a class D felony; or 

(iii) exceeds fifty thousand dollars, he or she shall be guilty of a 

class C felony.  

3. Definition of Intentional Program Violation for PA and SNAP
8,9

 

a. 18 NYCRR § 359.3 lays out the regulatory standards for determining 

whether an individual has committed an IPV: 

1. A public assistance-IPV occurs when an individual, for the purpose 

of establishing or maintaining the eligibility of the individual or of 

the individual's family for public assistance or of increasing or 

preventing a reduction in the amount of such public assistance, 

individually, or as a member of a family, applies for or receives 

public assistance and is found to have intentionally: 

i. made a false or misleading statement, or misrepresented, 

concealed or withheld facts concerning the individual's, or 

the individual's family's eligibility for public assistance; 

ii. committed any act intended to mislead, misrepresent, 

conceal, or withhold facts or propound a falsity concerning 

the individual's, or the individual's family's eligibility for 

public assistance; or 

iii. engaged in any conduct inconsistent with the requirements 

of Part 350, 351, 352, 369 or 370 of this Title. 

1. [A SNAP]-IPV occurs when an individual has 

intentionally: 

a. made a false or misleading statement, or 

misrepresented, concealed or withheld facts 

concerning the individual’s eligibility for 

food stamps; or 

b. committed any act constituting a violation of 

the requirements of the Food Stamp 

program, including, but not limited to, acts 

constituting a fraudulent use, presentation, 

transfer, acquisition, receipt, possession or 

alteration of food stamp coupons or 

                                                 
8
 Note: Subsection 2 language in the federal definition of SNAP-IPV differs slightly: “[c]ommitted any act that constitutes a 

violation of the Food Stamp Act, the Food Stamp Program Regulations, or any State statute for the purpose of using, 

presenting, transferring, acquiring, receiving, possessing or trafficking of coupons, authorization cards or reusable 

documents used as part of an automated benefit delivery system (access device).” 7 C.F.R. 273.16(c)(2). 
9
 Note: According to OTDA, there can be an IPV without any overpayment—see Informational Letters 94-INF-11 and 04-

INF-12 (“Under 18 NYCRR 359.3 it is not necessary that an actual overpayment was caused by the fraudulent behavior. This 

is true for any TA IPV for the period January 31, 2001 or later.…For TA IPV’s for the period January 30, 2001 or earlier, an 

overpayment must have resulted from the fraudulent actions.” 04-INF-12, Attachment, Question 45). 
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authorization to participate cards or any 

other evidence of the individual's eligibility 

for food stamps. 

B. Intentional Program Violation Penalties 

1. SNAP disqualification periods under 7 C.F.R. § 273.16(b)(5) and 18 NYCRR § 

359.9(c) are: 

a. one year for a first IPV; 

b. two years for a second IPV or for the first occasion of a court finding of 

trading of a controlled substance for coupons; 

c. 10 years for fraudulent representations with respect to identity or residence 

in order to receive multiple benefits simultaneously [found in C.F.R § 

273.16(b)(5) but not in 18 NYCRR § 359.9]; 

d. Permanently for a third IPV; for a second occasion of a finding of trading 

of a controlled substance for coupons; for first occasion of a finding of 

trading of firearms ammunition, or explosives for coupons; or for a 

conviction of trafficking in benefits in the amount of $500 or more.  

e. Criminal penalties and extended disqualification period 

1. Under 7 U.S.C. § 2024(b)(1): “Whoever knowingly uses, transfers, 

acquires, alters, or possesses [food stamp] benefits in any manner 

contrary to this chapter or the regulations issued pursuant to this 

chapter” shall be guilty of a misdemeanor if the benefits are of a 

value below $100, and guilty of a felony if the benefit amount 

exceeds $100. Periods of imprisonment can be as much as 20 years 

for felonies. Fines range from $1000 for a misdemeanor to 

$250,000 for a felony. 

2. In addition, any person convicted of a felony or misdemeanor 

violation under § 2024(b)(1) may be suspended by the court from 

participation in the supplemental nutrition assistance program for 

an additional period of up to eighteen months on top of the period 

of suspension mandated by 7 U.S.C. § 2015(b)(1). 

2. Public assistance disqualification periods under Soc. Serv. Law §145-c and 18 

NYCRR § 359.9(a) are:  

a. 6 months for the first PA IPV 

b. 12 months for the second IPV or where wrongful receipt of an amount 

between $1,000 and $3,900 

c. 18 months for the third IPV or where wrongful receipt in excess of $3,900 

d. 5 years for fourth or subsequent IPVs 

e. If found guilty of criminal offense, longer disqualification periods, fines 

and imprisonment may also be imposed by the court under § 145, or under 

other provisions of the penal code, e.g. larceny, filing a false instrument, 

etc.  
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1. Only the individual found to have committed the IPV is 

disqualified, not the entire household. However, the household 

may be required to make restitution or be recouped any 

overpayment resulting from the IPV. 7 C.F.R. § 273.16(b)(11) & 

(12); 18 NYCRR § 359.9(e) & (f). 

C. Time Limit to Schedule Administrative Disqualification Hearing 

1. ADH “may be scheduled … provided that not more than six years have elapsed 

between the month the individual committed an [IPV] and the date on which the 

social services district discovered the [IPV], and the office determines that there is 

evidence to substantiate that an [IPV] has occurred.” 18 NYCRR § 359.2(c). 

III.INITIAL INVESTIGATION BY LOCAL SOCIAL SERVICES DISTRICT 

A. Investigative Units 

1. Under Social Services Law § 134-B and 18 NYCRR § 348.7, each social services 

district must have a Front End Detection System to investigate fraud by 

applicants. See also TASB Ch. 5. 

2. Under Social Services Law § 134 and 18 NYCRR Parts 348 and 351, each district 

is also responsible for continuous supervision of recipients and is charged with 

investigating fraud allegations against applicants and recipients. 

3. Social services district investigative unit names vary by county: Special 

Investigations Unit/Special Investigations Division/Bureau of Fraud 

Investigation/Case Integrity Unit. 

4. Under 18 NYCRR § 348.3, “Investigations of fraud shall be promptly made, but 

shall be conducted by lawful means only, without infringing upon the civil rights 

of individuals. Under no circumstances, shall force, threat of force or false 

statements be used to obtain entry into a household or to obtain evidence of any 

nature.” 

5. Under § 351.1(d), “[a]ny investigation or reinvestigation of eligibility shall be 

conducted in a manner that will not result in practices that violate an applicant's or 

recipient shall be permitted to appear with an attorney or other representative at 

any interview or conference with a representative of a social services district, 

whenever such interview or conference relates to questions of eligibility for 

public assistance and care, or the amount to which the person interviewed is or 

was entitled.” 

6. New York City HRA 

a. In New York City, the Investigation, Revenue, and Enforcement 

Administration (IREA) is the investigative arm of HRA.
10

 

b. IREA is made up of the Office of Investigation, the Office of Revenue and 

Administration, and the Office of Medicaid Provider Fraud and Abuse 

Investigation. The Office of Investigation is comprised of the Bureau of 

                                                 
10

 See http://www.nyc.gov/html/hra/welfarefraudnyc/html/home/home.shtml  
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Fraud and Investigation (BFI) and the Bureau of Eligibility Verification 

(BEV).  

1. Bureau of Fraud and Investigation (BFI) is mandated to conduct 

investigations of individuals and organized groups allegedly 

committing fraudulent acts against the social service programs 

administered by HRA/DSS. BFI investigations may result in 

Administrative Disqualification Hearings, Civil Litigation, other 

appropriate administrative actions, and/or referrals for 

prosecutions.  

2. Bureau of Eligibility Verification (BEV) is mandated to deter 

cash assistance fraud at the application level. BEV contributes to 

the integrity of the cash assistance process by conducting 

eligibility reviews of applicants. BEV utilizes automated 

management systems to elicit information that is critical for 

accurate eligibility determinations. Activities include participant 

interviews, computer matches, collateral contacts, and document 

verification. This process includes office as well as field 

interviews. In addition, BEV also investigates the eligibility of 

sanctioned clients who have continuously failed to comply with 

FIA program requirements.
11

 

B. Sources of Information 

1. Computer Matches 

a. Under federal law, states must have an Income Eligibility Verification 

System (IEVS) that allows the state to match benefit program recipients’ 

social security numbers with those in other databases. See 42 U.S.C. § 

1320b-7. With IEVS, state agencies use six major databases to run 

matches to verify household income. New York State OTDA runs periodic 

matches of recipients with the State Wage Reporting System, State 

Directory of New Hires; National Directory of New Hires; Workers’ 

Compensation/ Unemployment Insurance; Financial Institution Matches; 

Marriage Matches; Federal Tax Information matches. The state also runs 

matches with warrant, fleeing felon and prisoner databases as well as 

matches of benefit recipients in other states and matches with death 

indexes. OTDA sends computer match information to the local district for 

investigation and follow up. See 04-INF-20; 05-ADM-06; 06-INF-10; 06-

ADM-13; 08-INF-14; 14-INF-05; TASB Ch. 5, Sec. F. See also HRA PD 

10-30-OPE. 

2. Criminal Investigations (police, district attorney, New York State Office of the 

Welfare Inspector General, federal authorities).  

                                                 
11

 www.nyc.gov/html/hra/html/services/program_integrity_investigation.shtml  
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3. Reports from landlords, former partners/friends/family members, members of the 

public. 

4. Discrepancies in case record/caseworker uncovers discrepant 

information/suspects unreported income or resources. 

5. Specialized Fraud and Abuse Reporting System (SFARS) Recipient Report 

(Appendix P).  

C. Social Services District Investigation 

1. Field Investigations 

a. Field investigators go out to check addresses, interview landlords, 

neighbors, relatives, employers.  

b. Investigators may also conduct “stake out” type investigations. 

c. Note:  The refusal of a third party to cooperate may be used against the 

individual in an ADH. 

2. Office Investigations and Interviews 

a. Appointment Letter
12,13

 

1. Individual may receive a letter from the social services district 

investigative unit to come in for an interview. Letter may not state 

the reason for call-in. There may be a list of documents to bring. 

See, e.g., HRA’s Bureau of Fraud Investigation Interviews
14

:  

(1) Letter should advise individual of the right to bring a 

representative to the interview. See OTDA GIS 

90IM/DC036 (see Appendix F). See also TASB Ch. 3, 

Sec. D at 3-5 and Ch. 4, Sec R at 4-31 (An applicant or 

recipient shall be permitted to appear with an attorney or 

other representative at any interview or conference with a 

representative of a local district, whenever such interview 

or conference relates to questions of eligibility for TA 

and care, or the amount to which the person interviewed 

is or was entitled). 

(2) Letter should state that individual has right not to answer 

questions. See Rush v. Smith, 573 F.2d 110 (2d Cir. 1978) 

(see Appendix L). 

(3) Letter cannot threaten to terminate SNAP benefits based 

on failure to attend interview: 

(a) Threatening to terminate the individual/household 

for failure to respond to [a request for contact], 

                                                 
12

 Arthur T. Foley & Lou Pastura, Food and Nutrition Service, Food Stamp Program Cooperation with Fraud Investigations 

(Apr. 24, 2003) (“Foley Memo”)(see Appendix N); also available at 

http://origin.www.fns.usda.gov/snap/rules/Memo/2003/fraud.htm.  
13

 See also Albany and Broome County appointment notices and Tom Hedderman email (June 6, 2014) (see Appendix M). 
14 Frequently Asked Questions, available at 

www.nyc.gov/html/hra/welfarefraudnyc/downloads/pdf/resources/Fraud_Investigation_FAQ.pdf  
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when the response involves communicating with a 

fraud investigator, circumvents the right to remain 

silent pursuant [to] 7 C.F.R. § 273.16(e)(2)(iii) & 

(f)(1)(ii)(B)…. [In]vestigators may request but not 

require individuals to attend meetings to discuss 

investigators’ suspicions. … In no event, however, 

may the individual or the household be threatened 

with the possibility of termination for non-

cooperation. 

b. Conduct of Interview 

1. Individual is in a bind between the duty to cooperate under PA 

rules and Fifth Amendment right not to incriminate him/herself. 

2. NYC advocates have been advised at HRA Legal Advisory 

Committee meeting that individuals called in to BFI get “spirit of 

Miranda” warnings before interview.  

3. Individual has a right to remain silent. 18 NYCRR § 359.7. There 

is rarely any benefit in talking to investigator. All statements may 

be taken in the worst possible light and used against the individual. 

4. As noted above, for SNAP benefits, the USDA has clarified that 

individual does not have to attend interview or answer questions. 

See Foley Memo (Appendix N). For PA, the individual must attend 

interview but does not have to answer any questions. 

5. Investigator may try to coerce the individual into signing a 

“Voluntary Statement” admitting the IPV. Statement will 

constitute admission in any future criminal case. 

6. In Erie County, the district attorney and the Special Investigation 

Division (“SID”) may interview the individual together in an 

attempt to get an admission. 

c. Failure to appear at interview
15

: 

1. For PA the social services district may take the position that it can 

close a PA case for failure to appear at an investigative interview. 

2. As noted above, for SNAP benefits, the USDA has determined that 

a district cannot terminate a SNAP case for failure to meet with a 

fraud investigator. See Foley Memo (Appendix N). 

3. For PA cases, individual should attend the interview (to fulfill duty 

to cooperate), but invoke the right not to speak. 

                                                 
15

 Note: The Food and Nutrition Service of the U.S. Department of Agriculture has a helpful fraud policy clarification memo 

to “reiterate and clarify current policy” governing IPVs. See Barbara Hallman, Food and Nutrition Service, Fraud Policy: 7 

C.F.R. § 273.16
15

 (Appendix O) & David A. Super, Improving Fairness and Accuracy in Food Stamp Fraud Investigations: 

Advocating Reform Under Food Stamp Regulations ("Super, Improving Fairness") (Appendix R). 39 Clearinghouse Rev. 73 

(2005). Available at http://ssrn.com/abstract=923563, for a discussion of FNS policy guidance and legal and policy 

arguments for a fairer investigation process where SNAP fraud is suspected. 
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d. Outcome of Investigation 

1. Fraud allegation unsubstantiated/inadvertent error/insufficient 

evidence.  

(1) If overpayment, may be recouped. Individual entitled to 

notice of recoupment. The total amount to be recouped 

must be specified and a copy of the budget must be 

attached. Individual has right to fair hearing to challenge 

recoupment. 18 NYCRR §§ 358-2.2(a)(1)(iii) & (a)(14). 

2. Fraud allegation supported — Referral to prosecuting authority 

unless agreement otherwise. 

(1) NYC: amount over $3,000 — BFI makes referral to 

prosecutor (see below). 

(2) Erie: over $5,000 — SID makes referral to prosecutor 

(3) Other counties: all fraud allegations referred to prosecutor 

in first instance, ADH only if prosecutor sends back to 

investigative unit. 

3. Fraud allegation supported/case not referred to 

prosecutor/prosecutor declines to prosecute — individual charged 

with IPV. 

(1) Social services district proceeds with ADH. 

(2) See 18 NYCRR Part 359 and TASB, Ch. 6, Sec. D, 

Disqualification for Intentional Program Violation, at 6-9 

to 6-20, for processes and procedures that must be 

followed. 

IV.REFERRAL TO PROSECUTOR/DISTRICT ATTORNEY 

A. Under Soc. Serv. Law § 145(1), “Whenever a social services official has reason to 

believe that any person has violated any provision of this section, he shall promptly refer 

the facts and evidence available to him to the appropriate district attorney or other 

prosecuting official, who shall immediately evaluate the facts and evidence and take 

appropriate action.”  

B. Under 18 NYCRR § 348.2, “Each social services district shall …[m]ake an agreement 

with the appropriate district attorney or other prosecuting official establishing the 

procedures for referral to such official of all cases wherein reasonable grounds exist to 

believe that fraud was committed [and f]ile with the department a copy or a statement of 

Practice Tip: Advocate can call to find out subject of call-in and advocate for resolution. In 

NYC, you may be able to get HRA to drop the interview and investigation if you can provide 

documents right away that individual had no intent to defraud or to prove extenuating 

circumstances. Call Assistant Deputy Commissioner, Bureau of Fraud Investigation (212) 

274-5611. 
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the agreement with the prosecuting official.” 

C. Referral for Civil or Criminal Prosecution. 18 NYCRR § 359.4. 

1. Referral required unless prior agreement with prosecuting authority. 

a. Social services district must refer cases that warrant civil or criminal 

prosecution to prosecuting authorities and not to OAH/OTDA for ADH 

unless prior notification by prosecutor that amount does not warrant 

prosecution. 

b. In NYC, the threshold amount for referral to the district attorney is $3,000. 

If the amount of the suspected fraud is less than $3,000, HRA’s BFI will 

proceed with an ADH.  

c. In Erie County, the threshold amount for referral to the district attorney is 

$5,000. See Erie County Investigative Unit Operations Plan (Appendix B). 

d. In other counties, referrals to the district attorney may be made for lesser 

amounts. 

 

2. Settlement of criminal case.  

a. In lieu of trial, case may settle or result in Adjournment in Contemplation 

of Dismissal (ACD) provided full restitution is made. Individual may be 

asked to sign a Disqualification Consent Agreement (DCA), agreeing to 

take the disqualification penalty without going to trial. 18 NYCRR §§ 

359.1(e) & 359.4(b). Note, if no DCA, if case is Adjourned in 

Contemplation of Dismissal, no ADH can be brought. 94-INF-11, Q 13. 

b. Use of DCAs varies by county. For example, Erie County does not use 

DCAs. See Erie Investigative Unit Operations Plan (see Appendix B). 

c. Some upstate districts are offering DCAs before individual is criminally 

charged and threatening to criminally prosecute or refer to district attorney 

if the DCA is not signed. Other counties offer the DCA where the district 

attorney declines to prosecute. See, e.g., Chemung County Investigative 

Unit Operations Plan (see Appendix C). This is extremely problematic.  

d. In Onondaga, the practice has been that individuals receive a letter that 

comes addressed from the district attorney, with a statement that the 

matter has been referred to that office for prosecution. However, the letter 

says that the individual should try to resolve the matter through the local 

social services district and gives the individual the chief investigator as the 

contact. The letter includes a DCA where the blanks are not filled in. This 

does not meet the requirements of 10-day notice for review of a DCA 

Practice Tip: Make a FOIL request for the district’s Investigative Unit Operations Plan, 

which includes the agreement between the local social services district and the prosecuting 

authority, and which must be on file with OTDA. 
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because the individual does not know pertinent details of what s/he will be 

asked to sign. The district attorney frequently ends up not filing charges 

and the cases are often withdrawn from the district attorney for an ADH 

hearing to be held instead. 

e. Such a practice appears to run afoul of 18 NYCRR § 359.4, which says 

that DCAs are to be used after the case is referred AND accepted for 

prosecution and the prosecutor contemplates deferred adjudication. These 

counties appear to be using the DCA as a short cut to disqualification, 

thereby depriving the individual of the right to either a criminal court 

hearing or an ADH.
16

  

3. Penalties imposed after conviction.  

a. If a court determines that the individual engaged in conduct that would 

amount to an IPV, the social services district must impose the penalties as 

directed by court or as specified in 18 NYCRR § 359.9, with some 

exceptions. District must initiate disqualification proceedings within 45 

days of the court determination. § 359.9(d).
17,18

 

D. Prosecutor/District Attorney Declines Case  

1. If, after referral to the district attorney, that office declines to prosecute, the case 

may be sent back to the social services district that may proceed w/ an IPV/ADH.  

1. Once case is referred to the district attorney for prosecution, the social services 

district can only do ADH if the district attorney declines to prosecute or fails to 

take action within reasonable time. The social services district must formally 

withdraw, in writing, the referral to the prosecutor before bringing ADH hearing. 

Must present evidence of the formal written withdrawal to OAH in advance of or 

at the hearing. 18 NYCRR § 359.5; 93-ADM-8. 

V.ADMINISTRATIVE DISQUALIFICATION HEARING  

A. Commencement. 

1. If case not referred for prosecution or if prosecutor declines after referral, local 

social services district can decide to proceed with an ADH. To proceed with ADH 

the social services district must prepare an evidence packet to send to OTDA for 

                                                 
16

 Note: As discussed by David Super in the SNAP context, “[a]though similar in effect, ‘consents to disqualifications’ and 

‘waivers of administrative disqualification hearings’ are under separate sections of the federal regulations and authorized 

under very different circumstances. Federal regulations allow states to request consents to disqualification only after a case 

is resolved through ‘deferred adjudication.’ According to Super, “[i]f states can threaten criminal prosecution to obtain 

consent to disqualification before the accused claimant has had the opportunity to have a criminal defense lawyer appointed, 

all of the safeguards of the regulations on waivers of administrative disqualification hearings are rendered meaningless.” 

Super, Improving Fairness (Appendix R). 
17

 Note: Social services district cannot impose the penalties for a PA-IPV based on a conviction in state or federal court if 

conviction was result of a plea and person was NOT advised on the record in the proceeding, and in writing, that it might 

result in disqualification. 18 NYCRR § 359.9(d)(5); 93-ADM-8 (see Appendix I). In this circumstance district can bring 

separate ADH but neither fact of conviction nor records of court proceeding can be used at ADH nor can hearing officer 

know of conviction. §§ 359.7(e)(3), 359.9(d)(5). 
18

 Note: An ADH does not preclude prosecution. 18 NYCRR § 359.6(d)(12). 

Page 18 of 245



OUTLINE: 

Intentional Program Violations 

Page 16 of 25 

 

approval and scheduling of hearing. 

a. Under 18 NYCRR § 359.5; TASB at 6-12; SNAPSB at 160, packet must 

include: 

1. Full name, including middle, complete address, etc. of person 

against whom penalty is sought;  

2. List of particular charges; 

3. Summary of evidence to be introduced; 

4. List of names, titles, and phone numbers of ALL district personnel 

and witnesses who will appear in support of the documentation; 

5. Itemized list of exhibits, with page numbers; 

6. Copies of all documents to be used in support of the determination; 

7. Information as to when and where the original exhibits may be 

reviewed; and on availability of free legal services; 

8. Statement of whether there are prior IPV findings (including 

criminal), attaching supporting documentation. 

b. If OAH finds the evidence sufficient, on its face, to substantiate IPV, an 

ADH will be scheduled and notice sent to the individual 30 days prior to 

the date of the hearing. 18 NYCRR §§ 359.5(f) & 359.6. If evidence not 

sufficient or packet does not comply with regulations, OAH will return to 

the social services district and will not schedule hearing. § 359.5(g).  

2. Notice
19

 

a. Under 18 NYCRR § 359.6(d), written notice of an ADH must be sent to 

the individual at least 30 days before the date of the hearing and must 

include: 

1. Date/Time/Place of hearing; 

2. Charges; 

3. Summary of evidence and how and where the evidence can be 

examined; 

4. Statement warning that decision will be based solely on district’s 

evidence if individual fails to appear; 

5. Notification of right to examine all documents and records to be 

used at hearing, with contact phone number; 

6. Notification of right to adjournment; right to present case or be 

represented; to bring witnesses, advance arguments without undue 

interference; to question or refute any testimony or evidence; to 

confront and cross-examine witnesses; to submit evidence; 

7. Notification of right to remain silent but that inferences can be 

drawn from the silence and that anything said or signed can be 

                                                 
19

 Note: In an Article 78 proceeding recently filed in N.Y. County, the petitioner defeated a motion to dismiss where the pro 

se appellant was provided with an evidence packet in advance of the ADH, which contained a copy of regulations 12 years 

out of date. See James v. Proud, 2014 WL 1714436, slip op. 31064 (Sup. Ct. N.Y. County, Apr. 25, 2014) (see Appendix J). 
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later used against individual; 

8. Statement that copies of Part 359 will be made available; copies of 

relevant sections; 

9. Citation to relevant federal or state regulation; 

10. Listing of legal aid/legal services organizations available to help; 

11. Statement that ADH does not preclude state or federal civil or 

criminal prosecution or from collection of overpayment; 

12. Statement on how to reopen default; 

13. Description of penalties for IPV;  

14. Explanation that person may waive hearing, which must include: 

time to sign and return waiver form, explanation of waiver’s 

significance, opportunity to admit or deny facts, but be subject to 

penalty whether or not admits IPV(s); contact number for 

additional information.  

 

3. Adjournment 

a. Individual has the right to an adjournment at least 10 days in advance, or 

with good cause if less than 10 days. 

b. Under regulations, hearing cannot be adjourned for more than a total of 30 

days, 18 NYCRR § 359.7, but OAH will grant adjournments more 

liberally. Outside NYC, ALJs rotate ADH days, so an ADH hearing 

“personalized” to the ALJ may be adjourned for months at a time. 

c. OAH is required to conduct the hearing, arrive at a decision, and forward 

it to the district within 90 days of the original notice to the individual. 18 

NYCRR § 359.7(f)(3). 

d. Deadline for decision is tolled by number of days the hearing is postponed 

if individual requests adjournment. 

4. Waiver of ADH. 18 NYCRR § 359.8. 

a. After receipt of the scheduling notice, individual has option of waiving the 

hearing and accepting the sanction, including repayment. Option to admit 

IPV or not.  

b. Extremely problematic with unrepresented individuals. 

c. Waivers may be signed and mailed in advance of the hearing or obtained 

by social services district at pre-hearing waiver “conferences.” 

1. In Erie County, they are done ahead of time but a second 

opportunity to “waive” is conducted right before the ADH hearing 

Practice Tip: Check packet thoroughly to make sure everything in 18 NYCRR § 359.6 is 

included. Use this section as a checklist at the hearing – exclude all documents not provided 

to you, and argue that it violates the individual’s basic right to due process. 

. 
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in a second hearing room. 

 

d. Note: See Hallman Memo (discussing handling of ADH waivers) if case 

involves SNAP (Appendix O). 

5. Defaults. 18 NYCRR § 359.7(g). 

a. If individual does not appear at hearing, ALJ is required to conduct the 

hearing, not merely enter a default. ALJ has independent duty to make a 

finding. 

b. Reopening Default 

1. Must contact OTDA within 10 days of hearing date with good 

cause for failure to appear.  

2. Must contact OTDA within 30 days of date of hearing decision 

with good cause for failure to appear, if that good cause is failure 

to receive notice. 

3. OTDA must schedule a hearing on the sole issue of good cause  

B. Preparation 

1. May request adjournment for time to investigate case/prepare for hearing 

2. Review packet. Check that contents comply with regulations. Look for conflicting 

or contradictory information. Check social services district’s calculations of 

overpayment claim. If recertification or other forms are part of social services 

district’s documentary evidence, ask if individual filled out forms him/herself. 

3. Get client’s explanation of situation. Explore possibility of extenuating 

circumstances, e.g., domestic violence; or possibility of social services district 

error, e.g., income reported but not budgeted. Was there “inadvertent household 

error,” i.e., did client have credible belief that employer or vendor agency was 

reporting to district information such as employment after work activity 

placement. 

4. If signed “voluntary” statement in packet, explore what happened in interview 

with investigator(s). Who was in the room? Was there coercion, duress? If client 

cannot read/speak English, was there a translator/interpreter? Who wrote 

statement? Was it adequately explained to client? Was client given “Miranda-

type” warning before interview or before signing? 

5. Explore client characteristics: problems with reading or comprehension; mental 

difficulties, educational history, limited English proficiency 

6. Review client’s case record — Call investigator to make appointment to review 

case record. Request copy of investigator’s report if not in record.  

Practice Tip: extremely useful tool for individual in a Fifth Amendment bind. Can waive 

hearing and accept sanction without admitting anything. Minimizes problem of future criminal 

liability based on admissions. 
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7. Get WMS or other printouts from social services district or investigative unit to 

see if there is anything helpful to client.  

8. Check who made the fraud referral; if it was not client’s own worker, call the 

assigned worker and ask why s/he did not make the referral. 

9. Review and discuss packet and all documents and findings with client.  

10. Look for evidence to undermine proof of intent. 

11. Consider whether you need/want other witnesses besides the client. 

12. Discuss whether client should sign waiver. 

13. Legal research – Look at statutes/regulations/policy documents. Check Online 

Resource Center Fair Hearing Bank,
20

  

 

14. Prepare direct examination of client and other witnesses and cross of social 

services district witnesses. 

15. Important to do several run-throughs with client on what to expect at hearing and 

what testimony will be. Do mock hearing with client the week before and again 

the day before the hearing.  

16. Prepare opening and closing statements; consider preparing a brief. 

C. The Hearing 

1. Rights at the Hearing. 18 NYCRR § 359.7(d); TASB at 6-16; SNAPSB at 164. 

a. To examine the contents of the individual’s case file, and all documents 

and records to be used by the district at the hearing, at a “reasonable time” 

before the date of the hearing and during the hearing; 

b. To present the case or be represented by counsel or other person; 

c. To bring witnesses; 

d. To advance arguments without undue interference; 

e. To question or refute any testimony or evidence; 

f. To confront and cross-examine adverse witnesses; 

g. To submit evidence to establish all pertinent facts in the case; 

h. To remain silent, although negative inferences may be drawn; 

2. Requirements for Conduct of ADH Hearing. 18 NYCRR § 359.7(e). 

a. ALJ must advise appellant that she may refuse to answer questions during 

the hearing; 

b. The social services district has the burden of proof;  

1. The burden is heavy — “Clear and convincing.” 18 NYCRR § 

                                                 
20

 Available at http://onlineresources.wnylc.net; OTDA Fair Hearing Decision Archive, http://otda.ny.gov/hearings/search/  

Practice Tip: If case involves a joint PA/SNAP IPV, ensure that the social services district is 

following correct rules for SNAP, i.e., if there is an allegation that the client deliberately 

failed to report a change of residence, the client may not have been required to report the 

change for SNAP. 

. 
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359.7(f)(1); 

2. Be aware of the different definitions of IPV for PA and SNAP 

cases. Compare 18 NYCRR § 359.3(a) (PA) and 18 NYCRR § 

359.3(b)(SNAP). 

3. Elements that district must prove: 

i. False statement (or misrepresentation, concealment, 

withholding of facts); 

ii. Individual knew that the representation was false at time 

made; 

iii. Individual intended to make the false representation in 

order to obtain or maintain eligibility for benefits (for PA); 

4. Warning: Social services district does not have to prove that it was 

damaged. 

i. Overpayment is not technically required:  To prove an IPV, 

district just has to prove that actions were intentional, NOT 

that they resulted in overpayment.  94-INF-11 gives 

example of intentional withholding of information about 

$600 in savings account. Individual is still under resource 

limit, but if it is intentional, it is an IPV. However, at times 

social services districts have lost ADHs on this point 

because it goes to intent. 

ii. Focus on Intent: e.g., Failure to report exempt income:  It 

undermines intent to defraud (individual testified that did 

not report because s/he knew it was exempt and did not 

think it was necessary to report). 

5. If individual convicted based on guilty plea in state or federal court 

on same set of facts and not advised on record of disqualification 

penalties, neither fact of conviction nor record of court proceeding 

may be used and hearing officer may not be made aware of 

conviction. 

6. All provisions of 18 NYCRR Part 358 apply to conduct of ADH 

where not inconsistent with Part 359.  

3. Procedure at the ADH 

a. ALJ will make opening statement. May swear in witness(es); 

b. Social services district’s direct case 

1. Burden of proof is on social services district so social services 

district representative will go first. First witness is usually the 

investigator who interviewed the individual and prepared the 

packet. There may be more than one social services district 

witness; 
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i. Documentary Evidence: Social services district will 

introduce the Evidence Packet in full. ALJ will individually 

mark exhibits and enter into evidence. Take time to 

compare contents of their Evidence Packet to yours – 18 

NYCRR § 359.5(e). Object to exhibits that were not in the 

packet or that are not relevant. 

Object to admission piece by piece (examples below) 

1. Summary of Fraudulent Activity (Summary of 

Charges; lists Evidence exhibits) 

2. Investigator Affidavit — Challenge: “Unsigned, 

conclusory, and meaningless. States no allegations 

of fact, so exclude as irrelevant.  Entitled to no 

weight.” 

3. WMS Printout (Case Composition) — Challenge: 

make sure it is for a relevant date. 

4. WMS Address Verification/Budget History/AFIS 

Photo/Recertification Forms — Challenge: make 

sure accurate and for relevant dates.  

5. PA Claim Computation—Challenge: “Unsigned and 

meaningless”; “It presumes an IPV, the very thing 

to be proven here.” 

ii. Point out if evidence does not support the charges, e.g. 

charge of failure to report change in household composition 

when case is about failure to report marriage and spouse 

never moved in. 

iii. If overpayment claim computation is incorrect, the 

disqualification period may be reduced at outset of hearing. 

2. Witness Testimony: 18 NYCRR § 359.5(e)(4) requires a listing of 

names, titles, and phone numbers of all district personnel and 

witnesses who will appear in support of the determination. 

i. If witness not listed in evidence packet, demand that 

testimony be excluded. (You won’t win, but it chips away 

at credibility). May also request adjournment for more time 

to prepare. 

ii. Witness/Investigator’s testimony usually just consists of 

introducing documents. 

c. Cross examination 

1. First question to any witness should be whether s/he has personal 

knowledge. In NYC not likely to be the individual’s worker or 

anyone from the local center. Most likely witness’s first contact 

with individual came during investigation.  
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i. Question investigator and any witnesses on inconsistencies.  

ii. Question on documents presented. Point out 

weaknesses/inconsistencies. 

d. Your direct case 

1. Make opening statement. 

2. Client and witness testimony. When social services district cross-

examines, do not allow social services district representative to 

badger your client or witnesses. If you think improper or irrelevant 

questions are being asked, object or consider instructing client not 

to answer. 

3. Documentary evidence. 

4. Closing statement. Emphasize heavy burden of proof — “clear and 

convincing”; weakness of social services district’s case; lack of 

intent. 

5. Request opportunity to send a closing letter if needed.  

D. The Decision. 

1. Under 18 NYCRR § 359.7(f), the ADH decision must: 

a. Be based “exclusively on clear and convincing evidence and other 

material introduced at hearing which demonstrates that an individual 

committed and intended to commit” an IPV; 

b. Specify the reasons for the decision, identify the supporting evidence and 

relevant law, and respond to reasoned arguments made by the individual; 

c. Be issued within 90 days of the date of notice of ADH (extended if 

individual requested adjournment).  

VI.POST-HEARING PROCEEDINGS 

A. Written Notice of Disqualification 

1. Must be sent after hearing (or after DCA or waiver or court finding). 

Requirements for the notice are found in 18 NYCRR § 359.10. 

a. PA disqualification put on hold if individual not on PA, until 

reapplication. 

b. FS disqualification begins to run whether or not individual in receipt of 

FS.  

B. Right to Subsequent Fair Hearing:  

1. Recoupment amount — Regular fair hearing may be held on the amount of claim 

if ADH decision does not specifically find that the amount is proper. 18 NYCRR 

§ 359.10(b)(5)(i). 

2. Calculation of amount to be provided to remaining household members during 

disqualification period. 18 NYCRR § 359.10(b)(5)(ii). 

3. Social services district failure to restore disqualified individual at end of 

disqualification period despite individual’s request. § 359.10(b)(5)(iii). 

C. Request for Reconsideration 
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1. As with fair hearings, the appellant (or the social services district) may request 

that the Commissioner review an ADH decision to correct any error of fact or 

law, or may request that the hearing be reopened to complete the record, in accord 

with 18 NYCRR § 358-6.6. The initial decision is binding until and unless a new 

decision is issued. 

D. Appeal of Hearing Decision — Article 78 Proceeding 

1. An Article 78 proceeding is the only form of review for ADH decisions.  

a. A decision that an intentional program violation has been committed 

cannot be reversed by a subsequent fair hearing …. However, the 

disqualified individual is entitled to seek relief … pursuant to article 78 of 

the Civil Practice Law and Rules. The period of disqualification may be 

subject to stay or other injunctive remedy ordered by such a court, but any 

period for which sanctions are imposed shall remain in effect, without 

possibility of administrative stay, unless and until the finding upon which 

the sanctions were imposed is subsequently reversed by a court of 

appropriate jurisdiction. 

2. 18 NYCRR § 359.7(i). 

a. Individual must meet a significant legal burden. 

b. Standard is generally whether ALJ had “substantial evidence,” and courts 

usually defer to ALJ on credibility findings. Williams v. Perales, 156 

A.D.2d 697 (2d Dep’t 1989). 

c. The administrative record of the hearing must be made available, even 

without an Article 78. 18 NYCRR § 359.7(h). 

VII. RECENT DEVELOPMENTS IN LAW AND POLICY 

A. Marriage Matches — Robles v. Doar 

1. Robles v. Doar, 9 CV 5851, S.D.N.Y. (Amended Stipulation and Order of 

Settlement Apr. 2, 2012) (see Appendix K; see also Appendices D & E) was a 

class action challenging the manner in which HRA brought food stamp IPVs 

based on marriage matches. HRA’s practice was to match New York City 

marriage records with initial applications and recertification applications, and if it 

was found that an individual had not reported a marriage, HRA considered the 

individual to have committed an IPV, whether or not there had been an 

overpayment of food stamps and without regard to whether there was any intent 

to defraud. In addition to retroactive relief for the class members, HRA agreed to 

amend its call in notice, voluntary statement, and interview process. 

B. SNAP IPVs and Six-month Reporting 

1. In cases involving IPVs of SNAP as well as TA, the social services district (and 

the ALJ) should make a separate determination as to whether the SNAP IPV is 

appropriate when deciding that it is appropriate on the TA side. This is 

particularly important when the violation involves an alleged intentional failure to 

report a change. Most TA/SNAP households are subject to 6 month (aka 
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“simplified”) reporting rules for SNAP — meaning that they do not need to report 

most changes until their next 6 month required contact (recertification or receipt 

of “change report” form in the mail). On the SNAP side, the only change that 

simplified reporters are required to report in between 6-month intervals is an 

increase in household income above 130% FPL. See 02-ADM-07; 03-INF-10; 07-

ADM-05. For an ADH decision upholding TA IPV but reversing SNAP IPV for 

6-month reporting individual household, go to In re Jane Doe, FH No. 6377135N 

(OTDA Aug. 28, 2013)
21

 

VIII. WHEN YOUR CLIENT IS THE VICTIM OF BENEFITS FRAUD 

A. Benefits Stolen from EBT System Not Readily Replaced 

1. While state regulation allows for replacement of lost or stolen checks if the 

individual makes a police report and completes an affidavit of loss, electronic 

benefits stolen from an EBT account are not as readily replaced. See 18 NYCRR 

§ 352.7(g); TASB, Ch. 11, Sec. D at 11-7 to 11-9; TASB, Ch. 21, Sec. A at 21-23, 

Sec. D at 21-4. 

a. When a recipient claims that he or she has not received electronic cash 

public assistance benefits which the department's computer issuance 

record indicates were issued, the social services district must verify the 

validity of the computer issuance record in accordance with procedures 

established by the department. If it is verified that a valid issuance 

transaction occurred, the benefits cannot be replaced. If it is determined 

that a valid issuance transaction did not occur, the benefits must be 

restored. 

2. 18 NYCRR § 352.7(g)(2); TASB at 11-9.
22

 

a. OTDA’s position is that if the individual’s CBIC number and PIN were 

used to access the benefits, regardless of whether the individual gave 

permission for their use, the benefits were “validly issued.” 

b. OTDA informational materials distributed to individuals advise: 

1. If you suspect that your accounts have been accessed without your 

knowledge, you should contact the EBT Customer Service hotline 

to disable your CBIC. After doing that you should contact your 

worker to receive a replacement card. You will be held responsible 

for Cash and Food Stamp Benefits that are accessed using your 

CBIC card and PIN. If someone else uses your Common Benefit 

Identification Card (CBIC) and PIN to access your account, no 

replacement of benefits will be issued even if you claim that you 

did not receive those benefits.  

B. Replacement of Benefits in Certain Circumstances
23,24,25

 

                                                 
21 Available at http://otda.ny.gov/fair%20hearing%20images/2013-8/Redacted_6377135N.pdf  
22

 “What You Should Know About Your Rights and Responsibilities,” OTDA, available at 

http://www.otda.ny.gov/programs/applications/4148A.pdf, at 25 
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1. OTDA has recognized some rare circumstances in which benefits stolen from 

EBT system may be replaced, namely where the individual’s CBIC card number 

and demographic information were fraudulently obtained and used to change the 

PIN number through the Automated Response Unit, thus allowing access to the 

benefits without use of the actual card, by a person who keys in the card number 

and the PIN at a cooperative retailer to fraudulently access benefits. 

2. If an individual suspects such unauthorized access to account, immediately report 

to Customer Service, to social services district, and to police. Request that a PIN 

lock be put on card. If social services district does not act promptly and thefts 

continue, any subsequent SNAP losses after first report are replaceable.
26

 

 

C. Emergency Assistance 

1. In certain situations, special needs allowances or emergency assistance can be 

used to replace items of need that the lost or stolen recurring temporary assistance 

grant was intended to cover. See TASB, Ch. 21, Sec. B, at 21-1 to 21-2. 

 

                                                                                                                                                                         
23

 See HRA Policy Directive #13-25-OPE, Requests for Replacement of Stolen Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program 

Benefits and/or Cash Assistance, available at http://onlineresources.wnylc.net/nychra/docs/pd_13-25-ope.pdf  
24

 OTDA 06-ADM-14, Electronic Benefit Transfer (EBT) Customer Service Automated Response Unit (ARU) Personal 

Identification Number (PIN) Selection Restriction, available at http://otda.ny.gov/policy/directives/2006/ADM/06-ADM-

14.pdf  
25

 See also Boyd v. Doar, Index No. 400706/2008 (Sup. Ct. N.Y. County, Oct. 2, 2008), available in Online Resource 

Center’s Benefits Law database 
26

 See In re D.V., FH No. 6148504R (OTDA Dec. 6, 2012), available at http://otda.ny.gov/fair%20hearing%20images/2012-

12/Redacted_6148504R.pdf (directing social services district to re-evaluate claim of unauthorized use of food stamp 

identification card based on SFARS Report and video of illegal transaction; HRA restored $392 in lost food stamps) 

Practice Tip: Obtain SFARS Recipient Profile Report if suspect that benefits are being stolen 

from EBT account. SFARS Report will indicate when and where each transaction took place 

and whether card was swiped or card number keyed in (see Appendix P). 
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New York Miscellaneous Reports 

 
 

IN THE MATTER OF JAMES v. PROUD, 401743/13 (4-25-2014) 

 

2014 NY Slip Op 31064(U) 

 

In the Matter of the Application of KEITH JAMES, Petitioner, For a Judgment 

 

Pursuant to Section 3001 and Article 78 of the Civil Practice Law and Rules, 

 

v. KRISTIN M. PROUD, as Commissioner of the New York State Office of 

 

Temporary and Disability Assistance; ROBERT DOAR, as Commissioner of the New 

 

York City Human Resources Administration; and, JACQUELINE DUDLEY, as Deputy 

 

Commissioner of the New York City HIV/AIDS Services Administration, 

 

Respondents. 

 

401743/13 

 

Supreme Court of the State of New York, New York County. 

 

April 25, 2014 

 

 

[EDITOR'S NOTE: This case is unpublished as indicated by the issuing court.] 

 

CAROL E. HUFF, Judge. 

 

 

 

Page 2 

 

  In this Article 78 proceeding, petitioner seeks to annul the May 15, 2013, 

Disqualification Notice he received following a Decision after 

Administrative Disqualification Hearing ("Decision") rendered by the New 

York State Office of Temporary and Disability Assistance, dated April 15, 

2013. Respondents Robert Doar, as Commissioner of the New York City Human 

Resources Department ("HRA"), and Jacqueline Dudley, as Deputy Commissioner 

of the New York City HIV/AIDS Division ("City Respondents") cross move to 

dismiss the petition on grounds including noncompliance with the statute of 

limitations, improper raising of new issues, and a substantial evidence 

issue requiring transfer to the Appellate Division. 

 

Page 3 

 

  Petitioner is a recipient of public assistance under the Safety Net 

Assistance program administered by HRA under the HIV/AIDS Services 

Administration. Petitioner was investigated by City Respondents' Bureau of 

Fraud Investigations, and was accused of an intentional program violation in 

that he failed to report to the Department of Social Services two bank 

accounts containing funds totaling more than $25,000. Petitioner does not 

dispute the existence of the accounts, but contends that he did not 
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intentionally fail to report information that he knew he was required to 

report. Following a March 19, 2013, hearing at which petitioner appeared pro 

se and presented no evidence or testimony, the ALJ determined that 

petitioner intentionally failed to report resources that would have made him 

ineligible for the benefits he received from March 8, 2011 to October 11, 

2011. The ALJ found that petitioner should be disqualified from receiving 

benefits for a period of eighteen months, and should be required to pay the 

overissuance of benefits totaling $5,377.50. 

 

  Petitioner contends that the Disqualification Notice should be annulled 

because respondents failed to comply with the provisions of 

18 NYCRR § 359.6, which provides that, prior to a hearing, written notice 

must be provided to a person accused of an intentional violation and must 

include, among other things, "copies of the sections of this Part relevant 

to the hearing process." 18 NYCRR § 359.6(9). One such section sent to 

petitioner (18 NYCRR § 359.3), which sets forth "The standards for 

determining whether an individual has committed an intentional program 

violation" was an outdated version that had been amended twelve years 

previously. 

 

  Respondents concede the error and argue that it was harmless, and that 

petitioner should not be permitted to raise the issue in this proceeding 

since he did not raise it in the hearing. They 

Page 4 

also contend that the proceeding is untimely and that it should be 

transferred to the Appellate Division because petitioner also asserts that 

the Decision is not supported by the evidence. 

 

  Where the issue of substantial evidence is raised, before transferring 

"the court shall first dispose of such other objections as could terminate 

the proceeding, including but not limited to lack of jurisdiction, statute 

of limitations and res judicata, without reaching the substantial evidence 

issue." CPLR 7804(g). 

 

  As for the statute of limitations defense, petitioner has presented a 

letter, dated July 30, 2013, from respondent New York State Office of 

Temporary and Disability Assistance, which states that "we will not raise 

the Statute of Limitations as an affirmative defense provided that the 

Article 78 proceeding is commenced within 30 days of the date of our letter 

setting forth our final position in the matter." That final position letter 

was dated August 26, 2013, and petitioner commenced this proceeding on 

September 25, 2013. Accordingly the proceeding is not time-barred. 

 

  With respect to the service to petitioner of outdated standards, the City 

Respondents' contention that petitioner should be precluded from raising the 

issue since he failed to raise it at the hearing where he appeared pro se is 

disingenuous at best. A policy guideline of the State of New York Department 

of Social Services, dated December 11, 1996, states: 

 

      The content requirements of for notices of intent set forth in 

    [18 NYCRR § 358, relating to fair hearings determining benefit 

    entitlement] reflect concern for appellant's due process rights. 

    Where a hearing involves a notice of intent, the hearing officer 

    must review the sufficiency of the notice to assess whether it 

    complies with regulatory requirements and whether any deficiencies 

    in the notice impinge on the appellant's due process rights. 
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This guideline should be no less applicable to a § 359 hearing. See 

also18 NYCRR § 358-5.9(a) 

Page 5 

("At a fair hearing concerning the denial of an application for public 

assistance . . . the social services agency must establish that its actions 

were correct."). 

 

  As for respondents' argument that the error was harmless, it should not be 

for the court to parse different versions of a statute to weigh the relative 

harm of providing a petitioner with the wrong one. In amending 

18 NYCRR § 359.3, the Legislature determined that a change was needed and 

was presumably significant. 

 

  An administrative determination will be upheld unless it is shown that it 

"was affected by an error of law . . . or was arbitrary and capricious or an 

abuse of discretion." CPLR 7803(3). Petitioner has stated a claim that 

respondents committed an error of law in failing to provide him with a 

correct version of the "standards for determining whether an individual has 

committed an intentional program violation," as was required by 

18 NYCRR § 359.6(9). 

 

  Accordingly, it is 

 

  ORDERED that the cross motion is denied and City Respondents are directed 

to file an answer to the petition within twenty days of service of notice of 

entry of this decision, unless the parties agree otherwise. 
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RUSH v. SMITH, 573 F.2d 110 (2nd Cir. 1978) 

 

BARBARA RUSH, INDIVIDUALLY AND ON BEHALF OF HER MINOR CHILD ROBERTO BOYCE, 

 

AND ON BEHALF OF ALL OTHERS SIMILARLY SITUATED, PLAINTIFFS-APPELLEES, v. J. 

 

HENRY SMITH, INDIVIDUALLY AND AS COMMISSIONER OF THE NEW YORK CITY 

 

DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL SERVICES, AND CARMEN SHANG, INDIVIDUALLY AND AS ACTING 

 

COMMISSIONER OF THE NEW YORK STATE DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL SERVICES, 

 

DEFENDANTS-APPELLANTS. 

 

No. 523, Docket 77-7518. 

 

United States Court of Appeals, Second Circuit. 

 

Argued December 9, 1977. 

 

Decided January 19, 1978. 

 

Page 111 

 

  Leonard Koerner, New York City (W. Bernard Richland, Corp. 

Counsel of the City of New York, and Edward J. Schwarz, New York 

City, of counsel), for defendant-appellant J. Henry Smith. 

 

  Marion Buchbinder, Deputy Asst. Atty. Gen., State of New York, 

New York City (Louis J. Lefkowitz, Atty. Gen. of the State of New 

York, Samuel A. Hirshowitz, First Asst. Atty. Gen., and Rosalind 

Fink, Asst. Atty. Gen., New York City, of counsel), for 

defendant-appellant Carmen Shang. 

 

  Marshall W. Green, Staten Island, N.Y. (John E. Kirklin and 

Constance P. Carden, New York City, Joan Mangones and David 

Goldfarb, Staten Island, N.Y., of counsel), for 

plaintiffs-appellees. 

 

  Appeal from the United States District Court for the Southern 

District of New York. 

 

  Before FRIENDLY, SMITH and MESKILL, Circuit Judges. 

Page 112 

 

   FRIENDLY, Circuit Judge: 

 

[1] This appeal from an order of Judge Stewart in the District 

Court for the Southern District of New York, raises the question 

how far the Social Security Act (the Act), 42 U.S.C. § 601, et 

seq.,[fn1] preempts the City and State of New York from 

combatting fraud by recipients of Aid for Dependent Children 

(AFDC) benefits. 

 

[2] The Supreme Court has described the AFDC program as a "scheme 

of cooperative federalism," Jefferson v. Hackney, 406 U.S. 535, 

542, 92 S.Ct. 1724, 32 L.Ed.2d 285 (1972); see Batterton v. 
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Francis, 432 U.S. 416, 97 S.Ct. 2399, 53 L.Ed.2d 448 (1977). As 

is now well known, basic standards of eligibility are set by 

Congress, with the Secretary of Health, Education and Welfare 

(HEW) authorized by §§ 602(a)(5) and 1302 of the Act to flesh out 

the administrative details by regulations. Sections 601 and 602 

require that a State plan, which must conform to twenty-eight 

separate requirements, shall be submitted to and, if found to 

conform, be approved by the Secretary. Each state may determine 

the level of need it proposes to meet; the Federal Government 

pays a percentage of the cost. Administration of the plan is left 

to the states and their subdivisions, subject to some general 

provisions of § 602(a) which require inter alia that the State 

plan must "either provide for the establishment or designation of 

a single State agency to administer the plan, or provide for the 

establishment or designation of a single State agency to 

supervise the administration of the plan," § 602(a)(3); must 

"provide for granting an opportunity for a fair hearing before 

the State agency to any individual whose claim for aid to 

families with dependent children is denied or is not acted upon 

with reasonable promptness," § 602(a)(4); and must "provide such 

methods of administration . . . as are found by the Secretary 

to be necessary for the proper and efficient operation of the 

plan," § 602(a)(5).[fn2] 

 

[3] The commission of fraud with respect to any of the programs 

under the Act is made a misdemeanor by 42 U.S.C. § 1307. Pursuant 

to § 1302, the Act's general authorization for agency rulemaking, 

the Secretary has adopted 45 C.F.R. § 235.110, entitled "Fraud." 

This requires that the State plan provide: 

 

  (a) That the State agency will establish and 

  maintain: 

 

  (1) Methods and criteria for identifying situations 

  in which a question of fraud in the program may 

  exist, and 

 

  (2) Procedures developed in cooperation with the 

  State's legal authorities for referring to law 

  enforcement officials situations in which there is 

  valid reason to suspect that fraud has been 

  practiced. The definition of fraud for purposes of 

  this section will be determined in accordance with 

  State law. 

 

  (b) For methods of investigation of situations which 

  there is a question of fraud, that do not infringe on 

  the legal rights of persons involved and are 

  consistent with the principles recognized as 

  affording due process of law. 

 

  (c) For the designation of official position(s) 

  responsible for referral of situations involving 

  suspected fraud to the proper authorities. 

 

[4] In response to this requirement, New York has adopted Social 

Services Law § 145 making various welfare frauds misdemeanors and 
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18 N.Y.C.R.R. § 348.2. Paragraph (a) directs each social service 

district to: 

 

  (a) Establish and maintain clear and adequate 

  policies, procedures and controls in 
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  order to effectively handle cases of suspected fraud 

  in the administration of public assistance and care. 

 

[5] Paragraph (d) provides that each such district shall: 

 

  (d) Designate a person, either of administrative or 

  supervisory responsibility or in a consultative 

  capacity to the local district such as a welfare 

  attorney, or establish a unit which shall consist of 

  persons of similar responsibility, to which all cases 

  of known or suspected fraud shall be referred, to 

  perform the following functions: 

 

    (1) review district material referred, including 

    any that may be legal evidence; 

 

    (2) determine whether that material indicates that 

    reasonable grounds exist to believe that fraud was 

    committed by the applicant or recipient and/or 

    others; 

 

              *      *      *      *      *      * 

 

    (4) determine the existence of any mitigating facts 

    or circumstances; 

 

    (5) promptly refer to the appropriate district 

    attorney or other prosecuting official all cases 

    wherein reasonable grounds exist to believe that 

    fraud was committed. . . . 

 

    Any existing mitigating facts or circumstances 

    known to the department shall be included in the 

    referral; 

 

    (6) maintain liaison with such appropriate district 

    attorney or other prosecuting official and endeavor 

    to secure reports of actions taken with respect to 

    cases referred; 

 

    (7) promptly advise the appropriate district 

    attorney or other prosecuting official whenever 

    restitution, or arrangements for restitution of 

    fraudulently received public assistance funds has 

    been made, or is being made. 

 

[6] Pursuant to these requirements New York City's Income 

Maintenance Procedure 78-76 provides for four units in the Office 

of the Inspector General of its Human Resources Administration, 

entitled respectively Duplicate Check Unit, Eligibility 

Investigation, Concealed Assets, and Special Investigation. The 
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Duplicate Check Unit was established to call in and interview 

clients who are believed to have fraudulently cashed two or more 

checks which they reported as lost, stolen or undelivered and 

were subsequently replaced. The procedures provide that failure 

by a recipient of benefits without good excuse to report for an 

interview requested by the Office will result in a termination of 

benefits.[fn3] 

 

[7] In March, 1977, the Inspector General sent a letter to 

plaintiff Barbara Rush requiring her to report for an interview; 

the text of the letter is set out in the margin.[fn4] Ms. Rush 

consulted the Legal Aid Society; a law intern wrote the Inspector 

General that Ms. Rush would not attend the interview and 

considered the threatened termination of benefits to be a 

violation of the United States and New York Constitutions and of 

the Social Security Act. After a "fair hearing," see note 3, 

assistance under the AFDC program was terminated. 
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[8] Ms. Rush then brought this action, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2201 

and 2202, 42 U.S.C. § 1983 and 28 U.S.C. § 1343(3), for 

declaratory and injunctive relief on behalf of herself and all 

other persons similarly situated. She contended that the request 

to appear, coupled with a threat to terminate benefits for 

nonappearance, violated her privilege against self-incrimination 

and imposed a condition of eligibility not authorized by the 

Social Security Act. In response to her request for interlocutory 

relief, defendants submitted an affidavit of the Director of the 

Fraud Control Division describing the way in which interviews 

were carried out. This was as follows:[fn5] 

 

    12. In addition, all case workers who interview 

  welfare recipients in the Fraud Control Division are 

  instructed to always begin their interviews with 

  "Miranda like" warnings by: 

 

      (a) Clearly explaining why their case is being 

    administratively reviewed. 

 

      (b) Clearly explaining that the Fraud Control 

    Division cannot arrest the welfare recipient for 

    any fraud but that any information of possible 

    fraud must be turned over to the District Attorney 

    as a matter of State law. 

 

      (c) Clearly explaining that since the welfare 

    recipient has appeared, their benefits cannot be 

    cut off, even if the welfare recipient admits to 

    having committed fraud. 

 

      (d) Clearly explaining that the welfare recipient 

    has three options when asked questions about the 

    alleged fraudulent cashing of welfare checks — the 

    welfare recipient can acknowledge, contest or stand 

    mute, that they cashed welfare checks they 

    previously had reported as lost, stolen or 

    undelivered. 
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    13. When a welfare recipient does elect to stand 

  mute, the interview is immediately ended and the 

  investigation continued without the use of a personal 

  interview. 

 

    14. Under no circumstances are the welfare 

  recipient's benefits terminated because of the 

  welfare recipient's refusal to answer any questions, 

  or even if the welfare recipient has admitted 

  committing fraud. 

 

    15. As long as the welfare recipient reports to the 

  Fraud Control Division office, the welfare 

  recipient's benefits are continued. 

 

    16. Furthermore, as soon as the plaintiff agrees to 

  report to the Fraud Control Division, her benefits 

  will immediately be restored, even if the plaintiff 

  refuses to answer any questions, or even if the 

  plaintiff acknowledges that she fraudulently cashed 

  checks she had previously claimed were lost, stolen 

  or undelivered. 

 

[9] Judge Stewart denied the request for class action certification 

because plaintiff had failed to satisfy the numerosity 

requirement of F.R.Civ.P. 23(a)(1) and also because certification 

was ". . . unnecessary and would not provide a superior method of 

adjudicating the issue since retroactive monetary relief cannot 

be awarded under the facts of this case . . . and since it is 

clear that the prospective efforts of declaratory and injunctive 

relief will inure to the benefit of all the requested class 

members," citing inter alia Edelman v. Jordan, 415 U.S. 651, 94 

S.Ct. 1347, 39 L.Ed.2d 662 (1974), and Galvan v. Levine, 

490 F.2d 1255, 1261 (2 Cir. 1973), cert. denied, 417 U.S. 936, 94 

S.Ct. 2652, 41 L.Ed.2d 240 (1974). Holding that, as a matter of 

law, termination of financial assistance for unexcused failure to 

appear at an interview imposed a condition of eligibility not 

authorized by 42 U.S.C. § 602(a), the judge granted a permanent 

injunction against enforcement of this portion of New York City's 

Income Maintenance Procedure 78-76 and declared it to be invalid. 

In view of this disposition he found it unnecessary to consider 

the constitutional claim. After having reinstated Ms. Rush, the 

City and State sought a stay pending appeal. The judge denied 

this; we expedited the appeal. 

 

[10] Appellants concede that New York cannot impose conditions of 

eligibility for 
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AFDC benefits which are in conflict with those specified in § 

602(a). The concession is well advised in light of a number of 

familiar Supreme Court decisions, to wit, King v. Smith, 

392 U.S. 309, 88 S.Ct. 2128, 20 L.Ed.2d 1118 (1968) (denial 

of AFDC payments to children of a mother who cohabits with an 

able-bodied man held to be in conflict with definition of 

"dependent child" in § 606); Townsend v. Swank, 

404 U.S. 282, 92 S.Ct. 502, 30 L.Ed.2d 448 (1971) (denial of 
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benefits to 18 to 20 year old children attending a college or 

university held to be in conflict with § 606(a)(2)(B)); Carleson 

v. Remillard, 406 U.S. 598, 92 S.Ct. 1932, 32 L.Ed.2d 352 

(1972) (denial of benefits to child when father's absence was due 

to military service held to be in conflict with provision as to 

"continued absence from the home" in § 606(a)); Philbrook v. 

Glodgett, 421 U.S. 707, 95 S.Ct. 1893, 44 L.Ed.2d 525 (1975) 

(state provision denying benefits for any week during which 

father was eligible for unemployment compensation held to 

conflict with § 607(b)(2)(C)(ii), permitting denial of such 

benefits during any week in which father received unemployment 

compensation); VanLare v. Hurley, 421 U.S. 338, 95 S.Ct. 

1741, 44 L.Ed.2d 208 (1975) (state regulations reducing shelter 

allowance to the extent nonpaying lodgers live in AFDC household 

held to conflict with § 606(a)). 

 

[11] Plaintiff here pointed to no such conflict between the New York 

City procedure and any provision of § 602(a) (or of the 

definitions in § 606) as existed in the cases just cited. Her 

argument depended rather upon an unarticulated premise of greater 

generality than that which these decisions declared and applied. 

This is that unless an AFDC recipient is or has become ineligible 

under some specific provision of § 602(a), a State is forbidden 

to terminate benefits, even when, as here, there is a legitimate 

ground for believing the recipient has engaged in fraud and has 

refused to cooperate in the State's investigation of it. We find 

nothing to support this broader premise and much to refute it. 

 

[12] We begin with the statement in Jefferson v. Hackney, 406 U.S. 535, 

541, 92 S.Ct. 1724, 1729, 32 L.Ed.2d 285 (1972), that courts 

may not void state action under the AFDC program "so long as the 

State's actions are not in violation of any specific provision of 

the Constitution or the Social Security Act." We have been cited 

to no provision of the Social Security Act which reads on the 

challenged New York City procedure. To the contrary, § 602(a)(5) 

requires a State plan to "provide such methods of administration 

. . . as are found by the Secretary to be necessary for the 

proper and efficient operation of the plan" and, under the Act's 

general rulemaking authorization, 42 U.S.C. § 1302, the Secretary 

has adopted regulation 45 C.F.R. § 235.110 requiring the State 

agency to provide inter alia: 

 

  (b) For methods of investigation of situations which 

  there is a question of fraud, that do not infringe on 

  the legal rights of persons involved and are 

  consistent with the principles recognized as 

  affording due process of law. 

 

[13] Section 602(a) states what persons are eligible; it does not 

attempt to list all the circumstances in which an otherwise 

eligible mother may render herself ineligible. Congress has 

simply not thought it necessary to say anything so patent as that 

persons who have engaged in fraud or refused to comply with 

reasonable requests to assist in its investigation may be removed 

from the rolls. 

 

[14] If there were any doubt about this, Wyman v. James, 400 U.S. 309, 
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91 S.Ct. 381, 27 L.Ed.2d 408 (1971), would dispel it. The 

New York law there at issue provided that when there had been a 

refusal to allow home visits, the appropriate public welfare 

official might suspend or terminate payments, see 400 U.S. 211 

n.2, 91 S.Ct. 381. Assistance to Mrs. James had in fact been 

terminated because of her refusal, 400 U.S. at 314, 91 S.Ct. 381, 

and the Court upheld this. Appellee seeks to dispose of James 

on the basis that it "was premised and decided on exclusively 

Fourth Amendment grounds, with no attention or thought being 

given to the question of the 
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validity of the New York rule under the Social Security Act." 

(Brief, p. 29). But the James Court was, of course, well aware 

of the "time-honored doctrine," noted by Mr. Justice Marshall in 

his dissent, 400 U.S. 345 n. 7, 91 S.Ct. 401, "that statutes 

and regulations are first examined by a reviewing court to see if 

constitutional questions can be avoided," and of its own recent 

decision in King v. Smith, supra, 392 U.S. 309, 88 S.Ct. 

2128, that a state cannot impose a condition of eligibility in 

conflict with the Social Security Act. It is hardly conceivable 

that the James Court would have undertaken the decision of a 

difficult constitutional question if the case could have been 

disposed of on the simple basis that New York had established a 

condition of eligibility forbidden by the Social Security Act. 

James was "a Fourth Amendment case" (Appellee's brief, p. 29) 

since New York could not terminate benefits because of a 

recipient's exercise of a constitutional right; the Court simply 

regarded it as too clear for argument that if the New York 

regulation did not violate the Fourth Amendment, the provision 

for termination was not in conflict with the Social Security Act. 

Were there doubts regarding the program's statutory validity, the 

Court would certainly not have stated, as it did, that New York's 

home visitation plan "serves a valid and proper administrative 

purpose for the dispensation of the AFDC program," 400 U.S. at 

326, 91 S.Ct. at 390. This was made abundantly clear by New York 

State Department of Social Services v. Dublino, 

413 U.S. 405, 422, 93 S.Ct. 2507, 2517, 37 L.Ed.2d 688 

(1973), where, in rejecting a contention that the Social Security 

Act preempted a New York work requirement program more severe 

than the federally sanctioned WIN program, 42 U.S.C. §§ 

602(a)(19), 630, et seq., a considerably closer question than 

that here presented, the Court said: 

 

  Such programs and procedures are not necessarily 

  invalid, any more than other supplementary 

  regulations promulgated within the legitimate sphere 

  of state administration 

 

[15] and cited Wyman v. James in support of this. 

 

[16] We find no basis for a contrary conclusion in Lascaris v. 

Shirley, 420 U.S. 730, 95 S.Ct. 1190, 43 L.Ed.2d 583 (1975), 

affirming Shirley v. Lavine, 365 F.Supp. 818 (N.D. N.Y. 1973) 

(three-judge court), on which appellee heavily relies. A 

three-judge court, following the lead of other lower courts, had 

struck down as in conflict with the Social Security Act a New 

York statute requiring "recipient cooperation in a paternity or 
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support action against an absent parent as a condition of [AFDC] 

eligibility . . . ." 420 U.S. at 731, 95 S.Ct. at 1190. The lower 

court did not find the New York statute to be saved by a 

provision of federal law which "require[d] a state . . to develop 

and implement . . . a program to establish the paternity of the 

child and to secure support from the deserting parent," 365 

F.Supp. at 821. While affirming the three-judge court's decision, 

the Supreme Court noted that Congress had since then resolved the 

issue by amending the Social Security Act to require as a 

condition of eligibility that, like the New York law, "the 

recipient . . . cooperate to compel the absent parent to 

contribute to the support of the child," 420 U.S. at 731, 95 

S.Ct. at 1190, but also provided that despite the termination of 

payments to the mother, protective payments should continue to be 

made to the child. The Court therefore stated that "[i]n light of 

the resolution of the conflict by Pub.L. 93-647, we have no 

occasion to prepare an extended opinion," and merely affirmed the 

lower court without explaining its rationale.[fn6] 

 

[17] The issue that had come before the three-judge court (prior to 

the Social Security's Act's amendment) was quite different than 

that raised here. In that case, Congress had placed the 

obligation with respect to establishing paternity and support 

upon the state, not upon the mother, and granted "no authority 

for engrafting such a condition" on the AFDC program. 365 F.Supp. 

at 821. Here, by contrast, it was hardly necessary 
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for Congress to say in § 602(a) that the mother should not engage 

in fraud; if anything was needed, the criminal provision in § 

1307 would suffice. 

 

[18] Appellee makes the further point that New York has procedures 

for dealing with the duplicate check problem independent of those 

here challenged. As soon as the New York City Department of 

Social Services detects the probability that a recipient who has 

obtained a duplicate check has also cashed the original one, it 

issues a Notice of Intent to Reduce Public Assistance and 

institutes recoupment limited to 10% of household needs, 18 

N.Y.C.R.R. § 352.31(d)(4), within 20 days unless a fair hearing 

is demanded, in which event recoupment is postponed. New York 

City Dept. of Soc. Services Proc. No. 72-20; cf. Jackson v. 

Weinberger, Civ. 75-280 (W.D. N.Y., Oct. 11, 1977) (upholding as 

consistent with the Act state regulations permitting gradual 

recoupment of AFDC overpayments that result from willful 

withholding of information); Lomax v. Lavine, 72 Civ. 2457 

(S.D.N.Y., July 31, 1972) (denying motion for preliminary 

injunction against state regulations providing for recoupment 

from future public assistance grants of prior duplicate 

payments). 

 

[19] However, the interests of the State are not limited to the 

gradual recoupment of funds when an AFDC recipient has obtained a 

duplicate check and then has cashed both. There is a legitimate 

interest in sorting out the cases where the illegality might have 

been minor or in some way excusable and those representing a 

deliberate and continued plan to mulct the State.[fn7] In view of 

the number of cases, the futility of fines and the undesirability 
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of incarceration except as a last resort, a tough lecture may be 

the best prescription for cases of the former type, with a 

recommendation for prosecution reserved for the latter. The State 

also has an interest in detecting persons other than the 

recipient who have assisted in or even encouraged such frauds, 

and the recipient's cooperation is extremely valuable. All these 

considerations are in conformance with the Secretary's 

regulation, 45 C.F.R. § 235.110, to which we have already 

referred, and with 45 C.F.R. § 233.10(a)(1)(ii)(B), which 

provides that: 

 

  A State may . . .. Impose conditions upon applicants 

  for and recipients of public assistance which, if not 

  satisfied, result in the denial or termination of 

  public assistance, if such conditions assist the 

  State in the efficient administration of its public 

  assistance programs, or further an independent State 

  welfare policy, and are not inconsistent with the 

  provisions and purposes of the Social Security Act. 

 

[20] We find nothing in the Social Security Act that forbids a state 

to terminate benefits to a recipient who engages in conduct, here 

the cashing of duplicate checks, which, if done on a considerable 

scale, would render continued conduct of the AFDC program 

impossible, or refuses to appear for an interview about this. 

 

[21] We therefore conclude that the district court was unjustified 

in striking down New York City Income Maintenance Procedure 78-76 

as a violation of the Social Security Act. On the other hand, we 

think a more modest injunction is required. 

 

[22] Our first concern is with the form of the letter sent to the 

AFDC recipient. Although the affidavit of the Director of the 

Fraud Control Division quoted above tells us that when the AFDC 

recipient appears, she is told that she has, and that in fact she 

does have, the option to stand mute, and that her welfare 

benefits are not terminated because of exercise of this option or 

even because of an admission of fraud, the letter sent to the 

recipient does not state this. This omission could well lead to 

refusals to appear on the part of recipients who would come if 

they knew what in fact would occur. This would result in an 

unnecessary increase in terminations and consequent hardship. The 

City's interest is in having people come in the hope they will 

cooperate, 
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not in having them stay away because of ignorance of what the 

City's policy in fact is. Whether or not the form of notice 

"infringe[s] on the legal rights of persons involved," 45 C.F.R. 

§ 235.110(b), it is unreasonable in the respect noted. It also 

should be made clear that the "representative" whom the recipient 

is entitled to bring with her may (although need not be) a 

lawyer. 

 

[23] While the point is less clear, we also believe that the City's 

procedures require change in another respect. Appellee's brief 

notes that (p. 40[*]): 
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    Each time Congress has amended the Social Security 

  Act to add new conditions of eligibility, such as the 

  duty to register for employment 

  (42 U.S.C. § 602(a)(19)), the duty to assign all support rights to 

  the State (42 U.S.C. § 602(a)(26)(A)), or the duty to 

  cooperate in establishing paternity and obtaining 

  support payments (42 U.S.C. § 602(a)(26)(B)), it has 

  expressly provided that if a parent fails to comply 

  with the condition the children are not to be 

  penalized, but are to receive protective payments 

  pursuant to Section 606(b)(2). 

  42 U.S.C. § 602(a)(19)(F)(i); 42 U.S.C. § 602(a)(26)(B). This 

  specific tailoring of the conditions to preserve the 

  rights of needy children is strikingly absent from 

  the blunderbuss approach of Income Maintenance 

  Procedure 78-76, under which assistance to the entire 

  family is terminated if the parent fails to appear at 

  an OIG interview. 

 

[24] Although, for reasons previously indicated, we do not regard 

termination for refusal by a recipient to cooperate in an 

investigation of possible fraudulent conduct as a "condition of 

eligibility" in any real sense, the instances cited do tend to 

show a kind of common law of the AFDC statute that the sin of the 

mother, even such an egregious one as refusing the very modest 

cooperation New York City has required with regard to her own 

fraud, shall not be visited upon the children.[fn8] Recognizing 

that a restriction will have a dampening effect on the City's 

procedure, we nevertheless believe that the termination of 

benefits to the parent must be accompanied by a provision for 

protective payments for the children similar to those in the 

statutory sections cited by appellee. 

 

[25] Because of his belief that the New York Income Maintenance 

Procedures violated the Social Security Act, Judge Stewart had no 

occasion to consider plaintiff's Fifth Amendment claim, and 

plaintiff's concession of the accuracy of the Director's 

description of the method of conducting interviews did not reach 

that far, see note 5 supra. The issue will have a changed 

aspect in view of the alterations in the notice we have directed. 

This point can be further considered if plaintiff should wish to 

press it. 

 

[26] The order is vacated and the cause is remanded for further 

proceedings consistent with this opinion. No costs. 

 

[fn1] Section references to the Act will be by the section 

numbers appearing in 42 U.S.C. 

 

 

[fn2] As Representative Doughton said in reporting the Social 

Security Act of 1935 out of committee: 

 

  In fact, these provisions limit very strictly the 

  supervisory powers of the Social Security Board over 

  the States, and provide a maximum of State control in 

  these matters. The federal standards or conditions 
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  included in the law may, indeed, be regarded as 

  minimum conditions, leaving to the States the 

  determination of policies, the detailed 

  administration, the amount of aid which shall be 

  given, and questions of personnel. 

 

79 Cong.Rec. 5469 (1935). 

 

 

[fn3] Such termination can occur only after a State "fair 

hearing" (if requested) in which the recipient may challenge the 

proposed discontinuance. N.Y.C. Dept. of Soc. Services, Notice of 

Intent to Discontinue Public Assistance; N.Y.C.R.R. § 351.23(b); 

42 U.S.C. § 602(a)(4). 

 

 

[fn4] Dear Public Assistance Clients: 

 

  Our records indicate that you have cashed 2 checks since 1974 

which you had reported to us as lost, stolen or undelivered. At 

the time we replaced those checks, you had signed an affidavit 

stating that you would not cash the missing checks if they came 

into your possession. 

 

  A review of the case must be conducted and if the evidence 

indicates fraudulent receipt of public assistance, Section 145 of 

the State Social Services Law requires that the case be referred 

to the District Attorney. Therefore, you must report to the 

Office of the Inspector General of the Human Resources 

Administration at the following address and time: 

 

              *      *      *      *      *      * 

 

  You are entitled to bring a representative to be present at the 

interview. Please bring your photo ID card and this letter for 

purposes of identification. If you have any questions about this 

letter, you can call 553-5159. Failure to report will result in 

termination of your public assistance payments. 

 

                            Signature illegible 

                            Inspector General 

 

 

[fn5] Plaintiff agreed to accept the affidavit as true as far as 

concerned her statutory claim. Rush v. Smith, 437 F.Supp. 576 

at n.2 (S.D.N.Y., 1977) (Stewart, J.). 

 

 

[fn6] Three Justices dissented without opinion. 

 

 

[fn7] During 1971 the New York City Department of Social Services 

paid out approximately $5.4 million in duplicate checks, Lomax 

v. Lavine, supra. 

 

 

[fn8] Indeed, New York's own practice, where a recipient is found 
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to have actually committed fraud, is merely to reduce the 

assistance grant by 10-15% until the overpayments occasioned by 

the fraud are recovered. Defendant-Appellant's Br. at 11; 18 

N.Y.C.R.R. § 352.31(d). To terminate all payments solely for 

failure to appear seems disproportionate. 
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Background 
 
This memorandum is to reiterate and clarify current policy governing intentional Program violations (IPV) as set forth at 7 
CFR 273.16 of the Food Stamp Program (FSP) regulations. As a result of recent Food and Nutrition Service (FNS) reviews, 
we noted some procedures that are not consistent with the letter or intent of 7 CFR 273.16. For example, we found that 
administrative disqualification hearing (ADH) waivers are sometimes offered to clients suspected of an IPV prior to the 
State agency’s completion of its investigation and of its determination to hold an ADH. We also found that some State 
agencies combine administrative and judicial procedures rather than pursuing one or the other. Given these findings, a 
clarification of the fraud provisions would be both helpful and appropriate at this time. 
 
In addition, both State agency staff and legal aid advocates have offered suggestions that we think merit consideration. 
We are passing along these practices for consideration by other State agencies in the operation of their fraud prevention 
and detection efforts. 
 
Use of ADH Waiver 
 
Section 7 CFR 273.16 (f)(1)(i) reads; “Prior to providing this written notification [that the individual can waive his/her right 
to an ADH] to the household member, the State agency shall ensure that the evidence against the household member is 
reviewed by someone other than the eligibility worker assigned to the accused individual’s household and a decision is 
obtained that such evidence warrants scheduling a disqualification hearing.” This provision requires the State agency to 
make a determination that there is sufficient evidence to hold an ADH and it intends to do so prior to offering the 
individual an opportunity to sign an ADH waiver. Waivers should not be offered when there is a suspicion of guilt but the 
evidence is not convincing. If a State agency determines that it has sufficient evidence to hold a hearing and has offered 
the individual an opportunity to waive the hearing, the State agency should then go ahead and schedule a hearing if the 
individual does not sign the waiver. For example, an investigator having reviewed an individual’s electronic benefits 
transfer transactions in a store previously disqualified for trafficking, might believe based on these transactions, that the 
individual has committed an IPV. However, unless the investigator is willing to take  
this evidence before a hearing official, an ADH waiver should not be offered. 
 
Administrative Hearings Versus Court Referrals 
 
Section 6 (b)(2) of the Food Stamp Act of 1977, as amended reads; “Each State agency  
shall proceed against an individual alleged to have engaged in such activity (intentional Program violation) either by way 
of administrative hearings, after notice and an  
opportunity for a hearing at the State level, or by referring such matters to appropriate authorities for civil or criminal 
action in a court of law.” (Emphasis added.) The FSP regulations at 7 CFR 273.16 (a)(1) reiterate the substance of this 
language and add that “The State agency shall not initiate an administrative disqualification hearing against an accused 
individual whose case is currently being referred for prosecution. Finally, sections  
7 CFR 273.16 (e) concerning ADHs and 7 CFR 273.16 (g) concerning court referrals describe two separate and distinct 
procedures. 
 
Thus stated, these provisions require the State agency to make a determination as to which procedure, administrative or 
judicial, it believes appropriate for a given case and to pursue that procedure to its conclusion. The State agency must not 
offer an ADH waiver if it intends to refer the case for prosecution nor suggest prosecution if the waiver is not signed. If an 
ADH waiver is offered, it should be because the State agency has already determined that an administrative hearing is 
appropriate in this case and is offering an individual the opportunity to opt out by signing the waiver. For individuals to 
make an informed decision with respect to waiving the right to a hearing, they must be fully informed of due process 
rights, hearing procedures, and consequences they face if determined guilty of an IPV at the hearing. Offering an ADH 
waiver accompanied by the required notices appropriate to the administrative proceeding does not properly inform the 
individual of the consequences of not signing the waiver if he or she is to be referred for prosecution. Individuals, based on 
the penalty specified in the ADH waiver notice for example, may decide to go ahead with the ADH only to find themselves 
facing prosecution and a far more significant penalty. Thus, whenever State agencies have sufficient evidence to hold a 
hearing and have offered an ADH waiver to the individual, an ADH and not a referral for prosecution is the appropriate 
course of action. 
 

SUBJECT: Fraud Policy: 7 CFR 273.16 

TO: 
Regional Food Stamp Program Directors 
All Regions 
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Similarly, suggesting to the client that his/her case may be referred for prosecution if he/she does not sign an ADH waiver 
is confusing or misleading and again makes it difficult for the individual to make an informed decision. Additionally, the 
consequences of losing a judicial proceeding are potentially so severe when contrasted with “merely” losing one’s benefits 
for 12 months, that it is conceivable that innocent clients will sign ADH waivers rather than risk the alternative. 
 
The prohibition against conducting both administrative and judicial procedures simultaneously, or in combination, does not 
preclude the State agency from prosecuting an individual upon completion of the administrative process. In fact, 7 CFR 
273.16 (e)(3)(iii)(H) requires a statement informing the individual that having a hearing does not preclude the State or 
Federal Government from subsequently prosecuting the individual. Similarly, cases referred for prosecution that are 
declined by the prosecutor, or in which no action has been taken against the individual by the prosecutor or court, may be 
pursued administratively. Finally, FNS recognizes that circumstances sometimes change or that new evidence may be 
introduced that causes the State agency to reconsider its original decision to hold an ADH and instead refer the case for 
prosecution. This may be appropriate on a case-by-case basis, but not as a matter of practice. 
 
ADH Waiver Forms 
 
Section 7 CFR 273.16(f)(1)(iii) states; “The State agency shall develop a waiver of [the] right to administrative 
disqualification hearing form which contains the information required by this section as well as the information described in 
paragraph (e)(3) of this section for advance notice of hearing.” Paragraph (e)(3) further requires, among other things, 
that a list of the individual’s rights as contained in 7 CFR 273.15 (p) be included. In other words, the ADH waiver form 
provided to individuals must include the information contained in each of three separate sections of the Program 
regulations: 273.16 (f)(1)(ii), 273.16 (e)(3)(iii), and 273.15 (p). For reference, a summary of these rights and procedures 
is attached. However, readers should consult the regulations for the exact regulatory text when necessary. 
 
We have included these requirements because our reviews showed that important information was sometimes omitted or 
was presented in such a way as to be confusing to the client. Omission of due process rights and other information from 
the waiver form not only fails to provide the individual information necessary to make a decision about signing the waiver; 
it may also jeopardize the State agency’s case. 
 
In general, all forms used by the State agency to advise individuals about the investigation due process rights and hearing 
procedures, should be simply stated and in a manner that is clear and understandable to clients. 
 
Suggested Practices 
 
These suggestions have come from both State agencies and legal aid advocates. We believe adoption of these practices 
would serve the interests of both investigators and clients by increasing clarity and reducing the appearance of 
intimidation. 
 
The first suggestion is to include a statement on the ADH waiver form that would allow the individual to assert that they do 
not wish to waive their right to an administrative hearing. For example, such a statement might read, “I have read this 
notice and wish to exercise my right to have an administrative hearing.” Current regulations at 7 CFR 273.16(f)(1)(ii)(D) 
require that the individual be permitted to indicate on the waiver form whether they agree or disagree with the facts of the 
case as presented. Some clients might wrongly conclude that they should sign the waiver to disagree with the facts as 
presented and exercise their right to have a hearing. We believe the inclusion of this additional statement will allow the 
individual to sign the waiver form while affirmatively asserting his or her desire to have a hearing. 
 
Second, clients unfamiliar with administrative hearings may confuse the ADH with a court proceeding and may wrongly 
believe that the consequence of a hearing is essentially the same as that of a conviction in court. Thus, individuals may 
believe the waiver is a way of avoiding a more serious penalty they might be subject to were they to go ahead with the 
hearing. Adding a statement to the waiver form indicating that the penalty remains the same whether the individual 
chooses to have a hearing and is determined guilty, or whether the individual waives the hearing, might permit a more 
objective consideration of the merits of agreeing to the waiver versus having an administrative hearing. 
 
Third, we are passing along for your consideration procedures adopted by a couple of State agencies that permit 
individuals that agree to meet with investigators the same opportunity for reflecting on their decision to sign an ADH 
waiver as those individuals that receive their ADH waivers by mail. In one instance, rather than having individuals sign the 
waiver during the interview, individuals are asked to take the waiver form home and return it signed by a specified date if 
they want to waive their right to an ADH. Alternatively, one State agency permits individuals that sign waivers during the 
interview to contact the investigator and ask instead to withdraw the waiver and to have an ADH. Adopting such 
procedures may not greatly increase the burden on investigators and may help to ensure that individuals do not 
impetuously waive their right to a hearing, particularly those that might be innocent. 
 
The last suggested practice concerns cases in which the person suspected of committing an IPV has a documented mental 
disability (e.g., noted in the case record or discovered during the investigation). Because some mentally disabled 
individuals may lack the ability to form the intent necessary for establishing an IPV, and may not fully understand the 
consequences of signing an ADH waiver, the State agency may schedule an administrative hearing without offering a 
waiver. This ensures that the procedures of the State agency fully protect the rights of the individual to seek legal counsel 
or assistance without raising the issue that the waiver was questionable. 
 
 
Barbara Hallman 
Acting Director 
Program Accountability Division 
 
Attachment  -- Administrative Rights List  
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